2001

Harold K. Beecher v. Salt Lake City Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Suit by architect for additional fees claimed to be owed for extra architectural services and expenses resulting from changes ordered by Defendants in the design and construction of the Metropolitan Hall of Justice complex.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Court granted summary judgment dismissing Plaintiff's claims.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Reversal of summary judgment of dismissal and remand for trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Salt Lake City and Salt Lake County employed Beecher (plaintiff) as architect for the Metropolitan Hall of Justice Complex (R. 27 & 36), appointed the Salt Lake City Engineer as their representative and required that Beecher “. . . perform and conduct all required services under his direction and supervision . . .” (R. 32, Par. 13). Under the direction and supervision of the City Engineer Beecher for approximately 10 months prepared schematic and preliminary studies on the design of a proposed single high-rise building and had earned a fee to that point of about \$120,000.00 (R. 286) when the Defendant (acting through a citizens’ advisory committee) decided not to build a high-rise, to change the basic concept for the project (R. 286-289) and to start over. Beecher, who had been paid nothing to that point, was coerced by economic duress (in view of the large amount expended by Beecher on plans which were scrapped) into accepting a partial payment of \$36,000.00 as a part of the total fee that Defendant had contracted to pay for the project. (R. 34, 45, 229, par. 11, 286, 293 and 298)

Construction time for the originally contemplated high-rise and also for the yet to be designed revised project was estimated at 730 calendar days (R. 49-50, 288, 289). After said abandonment of the original project and partial payment of architectural fees, Defendants decided to build the revised project in two phases and to defer construction of the Court Building portion until the first phase was completed so as to permit use of

the police building until the new police facilities were completed. This two-phase program resulted in actual construction time of 1736 days (R. 299), (approximately 2½ times the 730 days contemplated by the parties when they entered into the original and supplemental agreements) (R. 27 and 36).

The architect was required under the terms of the agreement to provide services during the entire construction period, and his claims result from the additional construction time and from changes ordered by the Defendants. The agreement included the following provision: (Portion of Paragraph #4 of Agreement)

“EXTRA SERVICES AND SPECIAL CASES.
If the Architect is caused extra drafting or other expenses due to changes ordered by the Owner, . . . *he shall be equitably paid for such extra expense and the service involved . . .*” (R. 29, 4).

Plaintiff's claims, which were dismissed by the Court, are for extra drafting and expenses resulting from changes ordered by the Defendants (Owners) within the meaning of said contractual provision, and are basically as follows:

Item #1. (R. 47, 60-61) Claim for attending approximately 75 meetings with Citizens' Advisory Committee (contract named City Engineer as representative of Defendants [R. 32, par. 13] and requiring Plaintiff to attend said meetings constitutes extra work not contemplated by the contract [See

also explanation in Plaintiff's answer to Defendant's interrogatories]) (R. 238-240, par. #2).

Item #2. (R. 38 & 61). Claim for extra work resulting from preparation of new drawings to replace those abandoned by Defendants when Defendants changed the type of facility desired (after Plaintiff had worked for 10 months under the direction of Defendants' representative on the originally contemplated project.) (See also explanation in Plaintiff's answers to interrogatories — R. 229-230, Par. 1 & 12). The agreement provides in part as follows: (R. 29, Par. #4) (Portion of Paragraph #4 of Agreement)

“If any work designed or specified by the Architect is abandoned or suspended, in whole or in part, the Architect is to be paid for the service rendered on account of it.”

See also contractual provision for payment to Architect for extra work and expenses quoted on page 3 above and found at (R. 29 & 47).

Item # 3. Not involved in appeal.

Item #4. (R. 50 & 64-68) Claim for extra drafting and other expenses resulting from the later decision to build the project in two phases extended the construction period from the originally contemplated 730 days (R. 243, Par. 8, 267) to actual construction time of 1736 days. That decision to extend construction period was made well after execution of the supplemental agreements. (R. 36 and 45, 245, Par. 8 (j), 269.) (Accordingly plaintiff's claim could not have been waived by the supplemental agreement.)

Item #5. Not involved in appeal.

Item #6. (R. 53 & 68) Claim for extra work in connection with assisting in the defense of a taxpayer's lawsuit filed against Defendants herein in connection with awarding of bid for jail equipment contract. (See also R. 231, Par. 24, R. 239, Par. 2(f)).

Items #7 and 8. (R. 53-54, 69). Claims for space analysis survey and square foot analysis to determine space requirements to Defendants in connection with size of structure to be constructed and to determine portion of completed space occupied by each of the Defendants. This work was extra work not included in the contract between the parties. Defendants acknowledged that they were indebted to plaintiff for those services (R. 89-90, Par. 7 & 8) (The Court overlooked that admission of liability and improperly dismissed those claims).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL.

Since disputed issues of fact exist which, if resolved in favor of Plaintiff, would entitle Plaintiff to recover against Defendants, the granting of summary judgment in this matter was improper. Summary judgment should be vacated and the case remanded for trial on the merits. *DAV v. Hendrixson*, 9 U. (2d) 152, 340 P.2d 416; *Hatch v. Sugarhouse Finance Co.*, 20 U. (2d) 156, 434 P. 2d 758.

The agreement between Plaintiff and the Defendants specified no time for construction of the project to be

designed by Plaintiff (R. 27, 36 and 45), however, the sworn answers to interrogatories filed by Plaintiff indicate that at the time of execution of the agreements the parties contemplated building a structure requiring a period of not to exceed two years (730 days) to construct. (R. 243, Par. 8). As a result of the later change to a two-phase project the actual construction time was 1736 days (R. 50 & 64), an increase of 1006 days. The bulk of Plaintiff's claims relate to extra work performed and extra expenses incurred by Plaintiff in performing professional services during the additional 1006 days construction period. The Court ruled that Plaintiff's claims were waived by the supplemental agreements (R. 34 & 45). The Court erred in that determination. The following issues of fact exist which are in dispute and require testimony and evidence at a trial, thereby precluding the granting of summary judgment:

1. UNDISPUTED CLAIMS IMPROPERLY DISMISSED.

Plaintiff's claim (items #7 and 8) for extra compensation for space analysis and square foot analysis (R. 53-54, 69) (see page 5 above) are not disputed by Defendants who have acknowledged liability therefor. See letter of Feb. 4, 1970, (R. 89-90, par. 7 and 8) wherein Jack L. Crellin, City Attorney, recommends to the Salt Lake City and Salt Lake County Commissions that those claims be allowed. The Court obviously overlooked Defendants' admission of liability in granting summary judgment dismissing those claims. If Defendants now dispute items #7 and 8 then an issue of fact

exists which requires a trial to determine whether or not Plaintiff is entitled to be paid for that extra work. The record is wholly devoid of any affidavits, admissions, pleadings, etc. which would justify summary judgment of dismissal, particularly in view of rule concerning summary judgments to the effect that for purposes of such a motion plaintiff is entitled to have the court survey the evidence and all reasonable reference fairly to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to Plaintiff. *Thompson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 16 U. (2d) 30, 395 P.2d 62.

2. TWO-PHASE CONSTRUCTION DECISION CONSTITUTES A CHANGE ORDERED BY THE OWNERS.

Since the later decision by the Defendants to construct the project in two parts or phases was made well after the parties entered into the supplemental agreements (R. 34 and 45), execution of those agreements could not constitute a waiver by Plaintiff. Plaintiff has a right to recover additional compensation, under the terms of the agreement, for extra services furnished at the request of the Defendants. If Defendants dispute the fact that the decision to build in two phases was made after the execution of the supplemental agreements, then an issue of fact remains to be tried with respect to when the project was changed from a single phase project to a two-phase project. See also discussion on page 6 above and R. 50 & 64, paragraphs #4; Plain-

tiff's answers to interrogatories, (R. 243, Par. 8); also see discussion in memorandum to the Court, R. 263-278. Issues of fact remain for trial as to whether or not after the parties had entered into the agreements employing Plaintiff, including the supplemental agreements, the Defendants changed the project from one which contemplated a construction period of 730 days to one requiring a construction period of 1,736 days, and whether or not said change by the defendants constituted extra work for which Plaintiff is entitled to be compensated within the meanings of paragraphs # 4 and 7 of the agreement between the parties (R. 29, Par. #4; R. 30, Par. #7. See page 13 hereof). The agreement between the parties is silent as to the time contemplated for construction of the project and accordingly is ambiguous in that regard so parole evidence is admissible to establish the intent of the parties as to the contemplated construction period for the project. *Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Bybee*, 6 U. (2d) 98, 306 P.2d 773; *Spitz v. Brickhouse*, 123 NE 2d 117, 49 ALR2d 673; *Hite v. Aydlett*, 132 SE 149; *Svarz v. Dunlap*, 235 P. 801, 271 P. 893; *Stacy-Judd v. Stone*, 12 P2d 143; *Mitterhausen v. S. Wisc. Conf. Asso.*, 14 NW 2d 19; *Parsons v. Briston Dev. Co.*, 402 P. 2d 839; 5 Am Jur 2d Architects Sec. 19, P. 682 and cases there cited. There is probably no better evidence of the intention of the parties to build a single building of one-phase construction than the fact that Beecher, under the direction of the agent for the Defendants, worked for 10 months on a single phase building project (R. 229 & 230). See *Trucker Sales Corp. v. Potter*, 104 U. 1, 137 P. 2d 370.

3. SERVICES IN TAXPAYER'S LAWSUIT ARE EXTRA SERVICES.

Issues of fact remain for trial as to whether Plaintiff is entitled to recover for additional services furnished by Plaintiff at the request of Defendant in connection with a lawsuit filed against Defendants by a taxpayer contesting the awarding of the jail equipment Contract, and whether or not those services were included in the duties of Plaintiff under the terms of the original agreement, or whether Plaintiff for some other reason is not entitled to recover for those services. The record is devoid of any affidavits, admissions, pleadings or other documents which would support summary judgment of dismissal of this claim. (R. 53 & 68; R. 231, Par. 24 [answers to requests for admissions]; R. 239 last par.) See also discussion on page 5 above.

4. SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DO NOT BAR PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS.

An issue of fact remains for determination as to whether or not execution of the supplemental agreements (R. 36 & 45) constitutes a bar to Plaintiff's claim for extra work and expense in re-designing the Metropolitan Hall of Justice project from a single building to the present multiple building arrangement. (R. 47-48; 60-63; sworn answers to requests for admissions R. 299-230; sworn answers to interrogatories R. 239). Testimony is required to determine the intent of the parties with respect to whether or not early payment of \$36,000.00 on the fee (to which Plaintiff was already entitled under its agreement with Defendants) was intended to

constitute a waiver of Plaintiff's claim for extra work in re-designing the project after abandonment of work that was partially completed at the time that Defendants changed the type of structure which they desired.

(a) *Supplemental agreements contain no waivers by Plaintiff.* If the supplemental agreements (R. 36 & 45) do not waive Plaintiff's right to collect for said extra work, Plaintiff is entitled to be paid therefor under the terms of paragraphs #4 and 7 of the agreement quoted on pages 3, 4 and 13 herein (R. 29, Par. #4 and R. 30-31, Par. #7). See also *Fitzgerald v. Walsh*, 107 Wis 92, 82 NW 717. An analysis of that agreement reveals that the Defendants simply waived the requirement of prior approval by their Boards of Commissioners of work done to that date (because that work was being abandoned due to change of type of structure desired by Defendants), and therefore Defendants agreed to pay \$36,000.00 toward the total architectural fee for the entire project earlier than it was otherwise due. (R. 29, Par. #5). This was reasonable in view of the fact that Beecher had worked for almost 10 months and expended large sums of money working on the plans that were abandoned. The parties agreed that the value to the Defendants of the services rendered to that time was \$36,000.00, (R. 34, Par. 2 and R. 45, Par. 2); that the original agreement would remain in full force and effect; that the waiver of prior approval of work by respective Commissions of Defendants applied only to that single payment and that said payment constituted full payment for all services to November 10, 1960. There is absolutely

nothing in that agreement which precludes Plaintiff from asserting a claim for extra drafting and other expenses incurred after November 10, 1960, in re-designing the project using the new concept developed thereafter. Defendants are the ones who changed the type of structure which they desired and Defendants should be required under paragraphs #4 (see pages 3 and 4) and 7 (see page 13) of the agreement to pay for those changes. (R. 29-31).

Plaintiff was coerced (R. 229) into accepting \$36,000.00 at that time rather than approximately \$120,000.00 claimed by Plaintiff to have been earned to that date when the work being done was abandoned (R. 286).

(b) *Supplemental contracts void for lack of Consideration.* Since the failure of the Defendants to approve the work done by Plaintiff under the direction of Defendants' representative was not due to any default by Plaintiff, but was solely the result of Defendants changing the type of structure which they wanted, the unilateral decision of Defendant not to approve that work is insufficient consideration to support the supplemental agreements; the \$36,000.00 had already been earned and was payable for abandonment of work done by Plaintiff as provided by paragraph #4 of the agreement (R. 29); accordingly said partial payment of fees already earned is not consideration which would support the supplemental agreements; therefore said supplemental agreements are simply not supported by consideration and are void and unenforceable. Defendants cannot any more avoid payment for services rendered by Plaintiff by refusing to approve work done under the di-

rection of Defendants' designated representative than an owner could avoid payment to a contractor because an architect wrongfully failed to approve work that had been satisfactorily done. Plaintiff has not been paid a single cent for the extra work caused by abandonment by Defendants who now seek to construe the supplemental agreements as agreements that Plaintiff was in essence making a gift to Defendants of 10 months work and to thereby prevent Beecher from being paid for re-doing work done in good faith and abandoned through no fault of Beecher. A fair reading of the supplemental agreements leads to the conclusion that Defendants simply didn't want to pay more than the \$36,000.00 for the abandoned work, which obviously was worth many times that amount. Had Defendants intended that no claim be made for extra work in bringing the work on the revised project to the same point as the work on the prior project when the abandonment occurred, they would have said so in the supplemental agreements. Those agreements were drafted by the Defendants and any ambiguity therein should be construed most strongly against the Defendants. *Skousen v. Smith*, 493 P. 2d 1003, 27 U. (2d) 169; *Seal v. Tayco, Inc.*, 400 P. 2d 503, 16 U (2d) 323; *Huber & Rowland Const. Co. v. City of South Salt Lake*, 323 P. 2d 238, 7 U. (2d) 273; *Wingets, Inc. v. Bitters*, 500 P. 2d 1007, 28 U. (2d) 231.

Aided by this presumption and rule of construction, the meaning of the supplemental agreements (R. 36 & 45) is uncertain and require testimony and evidence to determine if Plaintiff's claim for extra compensation for re-designing and re-drafting of the new project after

execution of the supplemental agreements is barred by the terms of those agreements and, if so, whether or not those agreements are enforceable in view of Plaintiff's claim of economic coercion in inducing the execution of those agreements and claim by plaintiff that the agreements are not supported by consideration. (R. 229, Par. #11, sworn answers to requests for admissions and R. 284-309).

5. PLAINTIFF IS CONTRACTUALLY ENTITLED TO BE PAID FOR ADDITIONAL EXPENSES.

Plaintiff was unable to perform the work contemplated under paragraph #7 of the agreements during the construction period with a single inspector because of the spread out nature of the re-designed project and was required to use additional employees throughout the construction period (R. 244, Par. 8 (e)). Plaintiff was also required to maintain an office staff to work on Defendants' project during the entire 1736 days construction period for which Plaintiff has not been reimbursed. Paragraph #7 of the agreements between Plaintiff and Defendants (R. 30-31) provides in part as follows:

“The architect shall furnish at his expense a qualified on-site inspector . . . during the entire time the construction work is in progress, whose duties shall consist of checking all shop drawings . . . to determine the quality and acceptance of the material and/or equipment proposed to be used in the facilities being constructed; to supervise and inspect all phases of the work being done.”

The costs, to be paid by the Architect for the above services to be rendered, shall not exceed

\$15,000.00. *In the event these services exceed this amount, it is hereby agreed by all concerned that the owner shall assume all costs in excess thereof.*" (emphasis added).

Defendants paid the additional costs applicable to one of the inspectors who supervised construction, but have refused to pay the cost of additional employees hired by Plaintiff to perform a part of the work specified in paragraph #7 (which simply could not be done by a single man), and have refused to pay the additional expenses incurred by Plaintiff as a result of the job being extended for over 1000 more days than was contemplated by the parties at the time that they executed the various written agreements (including the supplemental agreements R. 36 & 45).

Defendants argue that the limit of their liability under the agreements paragraph #7 (quoted above) is payment for a single inspector. Since the parties did not contemplate the additional 1,000 day construction period paragraph #7 is ambiguous as to what expenses were intended to be paid thereunder. Since Defendants drafted the agreements they should be construed most strongly against Defendants. (See cases cited on page 12 above). The dispute as to the expenses to be paid by Defendants under the language used in paragraph #7 of the agreements, particularly when construed with the language of paragraph #4 thereof, (see page 4 above) requires a trial and production of testimony and evidence, and precludes the granting of summary judgment.

SUMMARY

Suit by architect for additional fees and expenses claimed to be owed for extra work ordered by Salt Lake City and Salt Lake County in connection with design and construction of Metropolitan Hall of Justice project. Architect worked for approximately 10 months under the direction of the representative of Defendants designing a single high-rise building, then Defendants required that those drawings be abandoned and instructed the architect to design the present multiple-building facility. Defendants at that time waived the contractual requirement of prior approval by City and County Commissions of work done and made a partial payment to Architect on the total Architectural fee due under the original agreement, the parties agreeing that the amount paid was in payment for work done to that date.

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