2001

Harold K. Beecher v. Salt Lake City Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“The fact that a contractor was ‘hard-up’ when he signed the release of claims was not in itself sufficient to constitute duress. *Norton v. Michigan Highway Dept.* 24 N.W.2d 132.

Our sister state Idaho also noted and observed:

“Business compulsion is not established merely by proof that consent is secured by pressure of financial circumstances, or that one party insisted upon a legal right and the other party yielded to such insistence. Neither will a mere threat to withhold from a party a legal right which he has adequate legal remedy to enforce, constitute duress. Generally the demand must be wrongful or unlawful, and the other party must have no other means of immediate relief from the actual or threatened duress than by compliance with the demand.” *Inland Refineries v. Jones*, 206 P.2d 519, 522 (Idaho 1949).

Plaintiff's complaint fails to make allegations even to state a claim in these regards; rather, it affirms

that the supplemental contract "modified" the original without even challenging its validity. See plaintiff-appellant's amended complaint, R. 23-26. Also, the undisputed facts show that there was no voidance by plaintiff-appellant of the Supplemental Contract; rather, he operated under it from November 10, 1960, until he had received all of the contract benefits.

It is respectfully submitted that as a matter of law the lower court was correct in its decision. The supplemental agreement was supported by adequate consideration, the plaintiff received the benefits of the agreement and had not at any time voided the Supplemental Agreement. Thus, the architect was and is estopped to deny its validity, having elected to affirm and work under it. The lower court was justified in affirming the agreement as a full accord and satisfaction and ruling as a matter of law that it was not obtained under facts and circumstances which would render it void. Therefore, the Items No. 1 and No. 2 of plaintiff-appellant architect's claim as a matter of law are not subject of litigation and were properly dismissed by the lower court.

If further discussion of this point is necessary, it is to be noted that coercion is a specie of fraud and the 3 year statute of limitation for fraud had long run before suit was filed. *Price v. The Estate of Havereleigh*, 428 S.W.2d 422; *Leeper v. Beltrami*, 347 P.2d 12 (Calif. 1959); 77 ALR2d 803; Section 78-12-26(3) *Utah Code Ann.*, 1953. Also, fraud must be specifically plead, but the architect did not even allege this

claim in its amended complaint. (R. 23-26). The assertion must fall as a matter of law.

POINT III

ITEM NO. 6 CLAIMED BY THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT ARCHITECT WHICH THE UNDISPUTED FACTS SHOW ARE NOT PART OF A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED.

The undisputed facts show that Item No. 6 is a claim for \$1,250.00 for non-architectural time allegedly expended by Harold K. Beecher in assembling documents for the civil litigation in the case of *Clayton v. Salt Lake City and Salt Lake County*, 15 U.2d 5, 387 P.2d 93. These facts further show that the total time expended by Mr. Beecher, at the request of either of the parties-defendant, was an afternoon in preparation of an affidavit for summary judgment for the District Court. Further, the litigation was a case in which the plaintiff-appellant architect had an interest equal with the city in that by successful defense, he received an additional fee of \$5,532.10 based on his 10% percentage fee of the contract cost.

The time claimed by plaintiff-appellant for Mr. Beecher's attendance at various court hearings was purely voluntary as he was neither requested to attend nor needed to be in attendance. See Statement of Fact No. 8F, *supra* at p. 10. Time spent at depositions by Mr. Beecher was required by the plaintiff in that

case not the city or the county. Mr. Beecher was subpoenaed by said plaintiff and received his statutory fee. (R. 225; 231). Certainly, the city and county are not additionally responsible to pay for his time in attendance.

Importantly, the contracts subject of the within litigation have no provisions which provide for the compensation of the architect for non-architectural services, such as court appearances. Statement of Facts, Nos. 2 and 5, supra at pages 3 and 5. The plaintiff's complaint did not allege that he is entitled to compensation by virtue of quantum meruit or some other implicit agreement whereunder the city or the county agreed to pay for Mr. Beecher providing the affidavit. Plaintiff-appellant had an equal interest in that suit with the Defendants and no agreement by the city or county was made to pay the architect for attending court hearings to satisfy his own ~~curiosity~~ ^{curiosity}. 1

There was no benefit received by the defendants-respondents by the attendance at the court hearings by Mr. Beecher. Certainly, the plaintiff-appellant architect having entered pre-trial conference had a duty to render to the court at least a proffer of proof to support its claim on these issues. It failed to meet this burden and the court properly dismissed these claims.

POINT IV

ALL CLAIMS OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT ARCHITECT ARE NOT RECOVERABLE FOR FAILURE TO FILE A TIME-

LY CLAIM AS REQUIRED BY THE PROVISIONS OF 10-7-77 AND SECTION 63-30-1 ET SEQ., UTAH CODE ANN. 1953. FURTHER, THE ENTIRE CLAIM OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT ARCHITECT IS BARRED BY ITS FAILURE TO FILE SUIT WITHIN ONE YEAR AFTER THE DENIAL OF ITS CLAIM AS PROVIDED BY UTAH LAW.

The undisputed facts show that the claims of the plaintiff-appellant are based on work done and completed on the dates as hereinafter stated; to-wit:

CLAIM SUBJECT	DATE WORK COMPLETED AND/OR CLAIM ACCRUED
Item No. 1— Alleged attendance at sundry meetings of the Citizens Advisory Committee.	May 11, 1960 Findings of Facts No. 8A Supra at p. 7.
Item No. 2— Alleged direct and indirect expenses in connection with preliminary drawings, outline specification and cost estimates for “high rise” building.	October 6, 1960 Statement of Facts No. 8A Supra at p. 7.
Item No. 3— Not subject of this appeal.	
Item No. 4— Claim for expenses caused by delay in construction completion.	Construction lasted from June 19, 1963 through March 21, 1968. Statement of Facts No. 8D Supra at p. 9.

tem No. 5—

Not subject of this appeal.

tem No. 6—

Time in preparation and assistance in <i>Clayton v. Salt Lake City and Salt Lake County.</i>	December 2, 1963, Statement of Facts No. 8F Supra at p. 10.
---	---

tem No. 7—

Alleged preparation of space analysis survey.	February 1, 1961, Statement of Facts No. 8G Supra at p. 11.
--	---

Item No. 8—

Alleged preparation of square foot drawings and computations for space study.	October 6, ¹⁹⁶⁶ 1967 , Statement of Facts No. 8H Supra at p. 12.
---	--

Prior to the passage of the Governmental Im-
munity Act in 1965, Utah law clearly provided that
every claim against a city or town had to be presented
within one year after the last item of such account or
claim accrued. The then applicable law stated:

“Every claim, other than the claims above
mentioned (those dealing with defective, unsafe
or dangerous streets or bridges), against any
city or town *must be presented*, properly item-
ized or described and verified as to correctness
by the claimant or his agent, *to the governing
body within one year after the last item of such
account or claim accrued, . . .*” 10-7-77, *Utah
Code Ann.* 1953 (Emphasis added); cf. 10-7-77,
as amended in 1973.

The law further clearly provided:

“It shall be a sufficient bar and answer to any action or proceeding against a city or town in any court for the collection of any claim mentioned in Section 10-7-77, that such claim had not been presented to the governing body of such city or town in the manner and within the time specified in Section 10-7-77; . . .” 10-7-78, *Utah Code Ann.* 1953.

It is undisputed that no claim was filed with the city with regard to any of the matters subject of the within litigation prior to January 28, 1969. See Statement of Fact No. 8, *supra* at p. 6. With the exception of Item No. 4 and No. 8, it is apparent from the undisputed facts that no claim was filed within that one year period; therefore, the other claims individually are barred. Claims No. 4 and No. 8 are discussed hereafter, but the lower court's decision on the others should be affirmed by this court for this reason alone.

In addition and supportive of a conclusion that all claims are barred, is the fact that in 1965 the Utah Legislature passed the Governmental Immunity Act, which required that a claim be filed with the political subdivision of the state within ninety days after the “cause of action” arose. The law states:

“A claim against a political subdivision shall be forever barred unless notice thereof is filed within ninety days after the cause of action arises; provided, however, that any claim filed against a city or incorporated town under Section 63-30-8 (concerning defective, unsafe or dangerous conditions of highways, bridges or

structures) shall be governed by the provisions, of Section 10-7-77, *Utah Code Annotated* 1953," 63-30-13 *Utah Code Ann.* 1953." (Emphasis added)

Therefore, any claim which matured to be a cause of action after 1965 had to be filed as a claim with the city or county within ninety days. Clearly, on the undisputed facts, any claim allegedly maturing to be a "cause of action" after 1965 was not timely filed in that the latest date for filing would have been June 22, 1968. This fact is true because that date is 90 days subsequent to the date of completion of the construction contract. See Item No. 4, *supra* at p. 5. The plaintiff-appellant's claim was not filed until January 28, 1969.

In addition, the Governmental Immunity Act provides that claims, once filed, shall be deemed denied if the governmental body does not respond within ninety days. The law clearly states:

"A claim shall be deemed to have been denied if at the end of the ninety-day period the government entity or its insurance carrier has failed to approve or deny the claim." 63-30-14, *Utah Code Ann.* 1953.

Thereafter, the claimant must file an action within one year or the action is barred. The law on this point states:

"Said action must be commenced within one year after denial or the denial period as specified herein." 63-30-13, *Utah Code Ann.* 1953.

The undisputed facts show that the first claim made by the plaintiff-appellant architect was dated January 22, 1969 and was not submitted to the City or County Commissions prior to January 28, 1969. See ~~Findings~~ ^{Findings} of Fact No. 8, supra at p. 6. Therefore, that claim would have been deemed denied under the provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act as of April 29, 1969; thereafter, the plaintiff would have been obligated to file a suit on or before April 28, ~~1970~~ ¹⁹⁷⁰. However, the suit was not filed until April of 1971, ~~one~~ ^{one} year late.

Admittedly, there is some room for discussion regarding the date of denial in that a formal written denial was entered under date of February 9, 1970. See Statement of Fact No. 11, supra at p. 13. However, even using that date, the plaintiff-appellant would have been obligated to file suit prior to February 10, 1971, which he did not do. Thus, regardless if one uses the implied denial or the written denial, the plaintiff failed to file timely litigation as required by the Governmental Immunity Act. As such, in addition to the fatal defect of failing to timely file a claim, the claims are barred as a matter of law.

The plaintiff-appellant architect's only defense to these clear statutory provisions appear to be: (a) Its assertion that the Governmental Immunity Act provisions dealing with filing claims do not apply to contract actions (R-25); and (b) That the city and county are estopped from asserting the claim in that

suit was not filed within a year after the denial of the claim. (R-26).

With reference to its first assertion, there is no factual dispute that, excepting only claim Item No. 4, plaintiff-appellant architect failed to meet the applicable provisions of 10-7-77, *Utah Code Ann.* See discussion supra at p. 36. Thus, even if the architect's argument is accepted arguendo, Section 10-7-77 remains. Therefore, the Governmental Immunity Act found in Title 63 is not even needed to defeat those claims.

However, the Governmental Immunity Act by its own terms affirmatively states that it applies to contractual obligations; it provides:

“Immunity from suit for all governmental entities is waived as to *any contractual obligation.*” 63-30-5, *Utah Code Ann.* 1953. (Emphasis added)

Further, the Act defines “claim” as follows:

“The word ‘claim’ shall mean *any claim* brought against a governmental entity or its employees as permitted by this act;” 63-30-2(5), *Utah Code Ann.* 1953. (Emphasis added)

Thus, the word “claim” as used in Sections 63-30-13, 14 and 15, which impose time limitations for filing claims and suit by definition applies to all matters covered by the Governmental Immunity Act, including contract obligations. If the plaintiff-appellant architect's contra position were correct and the legislature

intended the Governmental Immunity Act only to apply to torts, it would have used the word "injury" instead of "claim" in those sections, because that word is defined to be essentially tort actions. See 63-30-2 (6), *Utah Code Ann.* 1953; cf. 63-30-2(5), *Utah Code Ann.* 1953. The naked assertion of the plaintiff-appellant, unsupported by any authority, is not well taken and the lower court's decision should be affirmed.

The second assertion relating to estoppel, at the date of the pre-trial conference constituted a naked assertion that plaintiff-appellant was misled by the negotiating for arbitration and, thus, delayed in filing timely suit. This position was never reduced to sworn affidavit form. Contrarywise, Mr. Jack Crellin under oath denied that he had engaged in discussions or negotiations concerning arbitration. His denial of February 9, 1970 was deemed by him to be final. (R-176). Salt Lake County by written decision advised the county that arbitration was not a legal requirement and referred to Mr. Crellin's opinion for a denial. (R-73-75). Both city and county commissions responded to the plaintiff-appellant's second petition requesting this arbitration with a denial. (R-76, 77). Thus, the matters of record at the pre-trial hearing affirmatively indicate that there were no facts and circumstances to justify an estoppel theory.

Further, it is important to note that under Rule 16 concerning pre-trial conference requested by the plaintiff-appellant, he is under an obligation to at least make a proffer of proof sufficient to indicate a prima

facie case for trial. This obligation plaintiff-appellant failed to meet. Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that the lower court was justified in its dismissal.

However, even accepting *arguendo* the architect's position, it has stated no reason or justification why the claim dated January 22, 1969 was not timely filed. He has not alleged nor asserted that his delay was by any act on the part of the defendants-respondents to raise an estoppel theory. Rather, the estoppel question goes solely to the filing of suit date in April 1971. Therefore, in any event, the architect's claims must fail for failure to file a timely claim.

In addition, if no other theory is appropriate, certainly laches should bar these individual claims. Plaintiff-appellant architect received in excess of \$630,000.00 on this project for services rendered and did so without once advising defendant-respondent that he was seeking additional compensation. It received all of the benefits and gave no notice for over eight years. The plaintiff-appellant architect failed to advise the defendants concerning its claims until the latter part of January 1969, even though most of these were completed well before October 6, 1966.

It is respectfully submitted that the lower court's decision dismissing all counts at the preliminary hearing is correct and proper. This court should likewise affirm the lower court's decision for the above stated reasons.

SUMMARY

The suit by the plaintiff-appellant architect seeks an additional \$130,000.00 on eight separate claims for work allegedly done relating to the construction of the Metropolitan Hall of Justice, in addition to the over \$630,000.00 it has already received. The individual claims No. 1 and No. 2, totalling \$6,750.00 and \$20,981.30 respectively are clearly barred by accord and satisfaction agreements dated November 10, 1960 and December 30, 1960, and by the architect's failure to give any notice of objection to that agreement until more than eight years after its execution and years after receiving the benefits from the agreement.

Not only as a matter of law is the plaintiff estopped from challenging the validity of that accord and satisfaction agreement, this action on these counts is barred by the statute of limitations and the fact that ~~it~~^{it} failed to file a timely claim within one year after those claims accrued as required by law. Further, it failed to file a suit within one year after the denial of the claims by the defendants-respondents as required by law.

Claims No. 3 and No. 5 were dismissed by stipulation and are not part of the within litigation.

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